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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS 

 
        CIVIL ACTION NO.: 4:20-CV-40028 
 
GREGORY TAPPAN,     ) 
 Plaintiff,     ) 
       ) 
v.       ) 
       ) 
TOWN OF BLACKSTONE, and    ) 
GREGORY GILMORE in his Individual and   ) 
Professional Capacity as Chief of Police,  ) 
 Defendants.     ) 
 

COMPLAINT AND DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 
 

PARTIES 
 

1. The Plaintiff, Gregory Tappan, is an individual who resides at 265 Williams Street, Norfolk 
County, Mansfield, Massachusetts 02048. 

 
2. The Defendant, Town of Blackstone (“the Town”), is a municipal body and is a legal entity, 

which was, at all times relevant to this Complaint, the Plaintiff’s employer. 
 

3. The Defendant, Gregory Gilmore, is an individual residing in Worcester County, 
Massachusetts. 

 
STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

 
4. This Court has original jurisdiction of this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 because it 

involves a claim for violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 
 

5. Venue in this district is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(1) and (2) because Defendant 
Gilmore resides in this district, and a substantial part of the events or omissions giving 
rise to the claims at issue occurred in this district. 

 
FACTS 

 
6. Mr. Tappan is a 33-year-old adult male who has been employed by the Blackstone Police 

Department since August of 2015.  Beginning in approximately June of 2018, Mr. Tappan 
started working as a Narcotics Officer within the Blackstone Police Department.  
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7. On or about July 25, 2018, a “vote of no confidence” against the current Chief of Police 
at the time, Ross Atstupenas, took place, which Mr. Tappan did not attend or vote in 
favor of.   
 

8. Many of Mr. Tappan’s coworkers took umbrage with his difference of opinion regarding 
the vote of no confidence, and as a result, both leading up to the vote and thereafter, 
Mr. Tappan experienced harassment at work by various coworkers, including but not 
limited to, lack of support/back up from his partner, bad mouthing him, destruction and 
vandalism of his personal property at work, and breaking and entering into his 
employee locker.  By way of further example, on the day of the vote, a coworker told 
him “you need to come here [to the vote], it’s not going to be good if you don’t.” 
 

9. While working in his capacity as Narcotics Officer, Mr. Tappan’s assigned partner was 
Officer Craig Metz of the Blackstone Police Department. 

 
10. On multiple occasions, Mr. Tappan reached out to his partner, Officer Metz, to assist in 

various patrol calls and investigations – both on a routine basis per police protocol, as 
well as an emergent basis for situations posing safety concerns.  However, Officer Metz 
frequently ignored Mr. Tappan’s requests for backup, putting the safety of Mr. Tappan 
and other officers at risk, so much so that other officers noticed the lack of backup as 
well.  
 

11. On several occasions throughout 2018, Mr. Tappan complained to his supervisors about 
his concerns regarding Officer Metz’s lack of communication and uncooperativeness, as 
well as other incidents of harassment.  Specifically, Mr. Tappan complained to his 
director supervisor, Sergeant Matthew Mantoni, about Officer Metz on two occasions, 
to which he was told to report it to the Lieutenant at the time, Gregory Gilmore, who 
now holds the title of Chief of Police (as of July 2019).    
 

12. Mr. Tappan reported his concerns to Gregory Gilmore, but was met with disdain.  By 
way of example, the first time Mr. Tappan complained, Gilmore laughed in his face and 
said, “of course you have a problem.”  On another occasion when Mr. Tappan 
complained, Gilmore responded by laughing and saying, “what do you want me to do?” 
 

13. Nothing was done in response to Mr. Tappan’s complaints about Officer Metz, and after 
the “vote of no confidence” took place in July of 2018, the harassment and lack of 
support only worsened. 
 

14. On or about September 12, 2018, while on duty, Mr. Tappan presented to an apartment 
in response to a call regarding suspected drug activity.  He contacted Officer Metz to 
assist, but received no response, however, Officer Metz, also arrived on scene at the 
apartment.  
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15. Upon entry into the subject apartment, a black bag containing cocaine was visible in 
plain view.  As Mr. Tappan was not wearing gloves, he requested Officer Metz to 
retrieve the cocaine and search the bag.  Mr. Tappan also called his supervisor, 
Lieutenant Gilmore, to the scene. 
 

16. Mr. Tappan documented the events of this arrest in a police report, indicating that the 
black bag of cocaine was in plain view and the manner in which the items were retrieved 
by Officer Metz. 
 

17. Subsequently, Officer Metz created a contradictory report regarding the arrest, 
indicating that the black bag containing cocaine was not in plain view.  Defendant 
Gilmore similarly offered a contradictory account of the arrest and cocaine seizure. 
 

18. On information and belief, Officer Metz and Defendant Gilmore created the 
contradictory reports regarding the September 12, 2018 arrest as a way to punish Mr. 
Tappan for Mr. Tappan’s decision not to support the 2018 vote of no confidence against 
Chief Atstupenas. 

 
19. Throughout September of 2018, Mr. Tappan continued to experience harassment by his 

coworkers, including but not limited to, bad mouthing and defamatory language 
regarding his character (accusing him of being a liar), as well as continued hostility, 
bullying, and intimidation tactics.  By way of example and not limitation, on one 
occasion Defendant Gilmore verbally berated and threatened Mr. Tappan in front of 
coworkers.  Mr. Tappan attempted to resolve these issues on his own by sitting down 
privately with Defendant Gilmore and Sergeant Maxwell Hurwitz, two of the most 
aggressive offenders, requesting them to stop defaming his character, however, his 
efforts were unsuccessful.  

 
20. Ultimately, on September 28, 2018, Mr. Tappan made a formal complaint to Chief 

Atstupenas regarding the harassment and other unethical practices by Officer Metz, 
Sergeant Hurwitz, and Defendant Gilmore, among others.  
 

21. Upon making this complaint, the harassment only continued.  By way of example, on 
October 24, 2018, Mr. Tappan’s locker at work was broken into again and the contents 
were damaged, including personal photographs.  Mr. Tappan reported this incident to 
the Chief.  
 

22. Additionally, Defendant Gilmore subsequently made a false complaint against Mr. 
Tappan, falsely accusing him of falsifying the police report pertaining to the September 
12, 2018 arrest and lying to a supervisor.  Of note, the manner in which this false 
complaint was made was not in adherence to the police department’s policies, 
procedures, and/or guidelines. 
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23. On information and belief, Defendant Gilmore made this false complaint against Mr. 
Tappan as a way to punish Mr. Tappan for Mr. Tappan’s decision not to support the 
2018 vote of no confidence against Chief Atstupenas. 
 

24. As a result of Defendant Gilmore’s false accusations, an investigation ensued against Mr. 
Tappan, and he was ultimately cleared of any wrongdoing. 
 

25. Due to extreme stress and anxiety that resulted from the ongoing workplace retaliation 
and harassment against him, including the investigation that preceded his being cleared 
of Defendant Gilmore’s false allegations, Mr. Tappan was forced to stop working on or 
about October 31, 2018.  
 

26. On or about April 15, 2019, Mr. Tappan returned to work at the Blackstone Police 
Department.  Upon his return, Mr. Tappan was completely alienated by his coworkers in 
further retaliation for his decision not to support the vote of no confidence and for filing 
the complaint with Chief Atstupenas about his coworkers to begin with.  

 
27. Subsequently, on or about July 15, 2019, Mr. Tappan applied for injured-on-duty (“IOD”) 

benefits. 
 

28. On August 7, 2019, in retaliation for Mr. Tappan applying for IOD benefits, and for Mr. 
Tappan’s decision not to support the 2018 vote of no confidence against Chief 
Atstupenas, the Defendants continued their harassment against Mr. Tappan by 
unlawfully placing him on unpaid administrative leave, and instituting unfounded 
investigations into Mr. Tappan’s application for IOD benefits. 

 
29. Specifically, Defendant Gilmore (who is now the current Chief of Police) has attempted 

to sustain an unauthorized, unfounded independent investigation of Mr. Tappan’s 
application for IOD benefits.   
 

30. Having reviewed the matter, the Defendant Town of Blackstone decided to grant Mr. 
Tappan’s application for IOD benefits, however, not until many months later, on 
November 20, 2019.  
 

31. On information and belief, the Defendants are continuing to inflict additional retaliation 
against Mr. Tappan for applying for IOD benefits, and for Mr. Tappan’s decision not to 
support the 2018 vote of no confidence against Chief Atstupenas, including, but not 
limited to, attempts to force Mr. Tappan into retirement. 

 
32. Specifically, on February 22, 2020, Mr. Tappan was served with involuntary retirement 

papers by the Town. 
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CLAIMS 
 

COUNT I 
AGAINST GREGORY GILMORE IN HIS INDIVIDUAL CAPACITY 

RETALIATION UNDER 42 U.S.C. § 1983 
 

33. Plaintiff repeats the allegations set forth above as if fully contained herein. 
 

34. At all relevant times, Defendant Gilmore was acting under color of state law. 
 

35. Mr. Tappan made reports to the members of the Blackstone Police Department and the 
Town regarding matters of public concern, including the Mr. Tappan’s numerous reports 
about the harassment and lack of support he was experiencing in the Blackstone Police 
Department; Mr. Tappan’s formal September 28, 2018 complaint to the Chief, Mr. 
Tappan’s complaints to his superiors in February and March of 2018; and Mr. Tappan’s 
complaint to his superiors regarding his locker being broken into on October 24, 2018, 
thus his speech was protected under the First Amendment to the United States 
Constitution.   

 
36. Mr. Tappan’s decision not to support the 2018 vote of no confidence against Chief of 

Police, Ross Atstupenas was protected under the First Amendment to the United States 
Constitution. 
 

37. Mr. Tappan’s decision to exercise his right to apply for IOD benefits was protected under 
the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. 
 

38. Mr. Tappan's (and the public's) interest in making the reports to the Blackstone Police 
Department and the Town, to freely deciding whether to maintain confidence in Chief 
Atstupenas, and to exercising a right to apply for IOD benefits outweighed any interest 
Defendant Gilmore may have had in the efficient performance of the Blackstone Police 
Department. 

 
39. Mr. Tappan's protected activity was a substantial or motivating factor in the adverse 

employment actions taken against him by Defendant Gilmore, and Defendant Gilmore 
would not have taken such adverse employment action absent the protected conduct. 

 
40. Such adverse employment actions include Defendant Gilmore’s lack of professional 

support for Mr. Tappan; Defendant Gilmore slandering Mr. Tappan; Defendant Gilmore 
falsifying allegations and instituting a groundless investigation against Mr. Tappan 
regarding the September 12, 2018 arrest; Defendant Gilmore instituting and 
maintaining a groundless investigation into Mr. Tappan’s application for IOD benefits; 
Defendant Gilmore’s continued attempts to force Mr. Tappan into retirement; and 
other sundry acts of retaliation. 
 

Case 4:20-cv-40028-TSH   Document 1   Filed 03/12/20   Page 5 of 10



6 
 

41. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant Gilmore's violations of 42 U.S.C. § 1983, 
Mr. Tappan has suffered significant damages, including economic damages, damages to 
his personal and professional reputation, and emotional distress. 

 
42. Mr. Tappan is also entitled to punitive damages because Defendant Gilmore acted with 

evil motive or intent, recklessly or with callous indifference to Mr. Tappan's federally 
protected rights. 
 

COUNT II 
AGAINST GREGORY GILMORE IN HIS INDIVIDUAL AND OFFICIAL CAPACITIES 

INTENTIONAL/RECKLESS INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS 
 

43. Plaintiff repeats the allegations set forth above as if fully contained herein. 
 

44. In committing the actions described above, Defendant Gilmore intended, knew, or 
should have known that his conduct would cause emotional distress. 
 

45. Defendant Gilmore’s conduct, as described above, was extreme and outrageous.  
 

46. Defendant Gilmore’s conduct, as described above, goes beyond all possible bounds of 
decency, and is regarded as atrocious, and utterly intolerable in a civilized community. 
 

47. Defendant Gilmore’s conduct, as described above, directly and proximately caused 
severe emotional distress to Mr. Tappan, including but not limited to post-traumatic 
stress disorder, anxiety, depression, loss of sleep and appetite, and loss of self-esteem. 
 
 

COUNT III 
AGAINST GREGORY GILMORE IN HIS INDIVIDUAL AND OFFICIAL CAPACITIES 

DEFAMATION 
 

48. Plaintiff repeats the allegations set forth above as if fully contained herein. 
 

49. In communicating with others inside and outside of the Blackstone Police Department 
as alleged above, Defendant Gilmore made false statements concerning Mr. Tappan, 
including, but not limited to stating that Mr. Tappan falsified evidence, and that Mr. 
Tappan was not capable or willing to perform Mr. Tappan’s job duties. 
 

50. When Defendant Gilmore made false statements concerning Mr. Tappan, Defendant 
Gilmore knew those statements to be false, or Defendant Gilmore failed to exercise 
reasonable care in ascertaining the truth or falsity of his statements. 
 

51. Defendant Gilmore’s false statements concerning Mr. Tappan could and did damage Mr. 
Tappan's reputation in the community. 
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52. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant Gilmore’s false statements concerning 

Mr. Tappan, Mr. Tappan has suffered significant damages, including economic damages, 
damages to his personal and professional reputation, and emotional distress. 

 
COUNT IV 

AGAINST THE TOWN OF BLACKSTONE 
RETALIATION UNDER 42 U.S.C. § 1983 

 
53. Plaintiff repeats the allegations set forth above as if fully contained herein. 

 
54. At all relevant times, Defendant Gilmore was acting under color of state law. 

 
55. At all relevant times, Defendant Gilmore was an official of the Town of Blackstone with 

the authority to set and establish the final official government policy for the Town for 
taking the adverse actions that he took against Mr. Tappan. As such, Defendant 
Gilmore's decisions to take those actions constituted official policies of the Town of 
Blackstone. 

 
56. Mr. Tappan’s reports to the Blackstone Police Department and the Town on matters of 

public concern, his decision not to join the 2018 vote of no confidence against Chief 
Atstupenas, and his exercise of his right to apply for IOD benefits were protected under 
the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. 

 
57. Mr. Tappan's (and the public's) interest in making the reports to the Blackstone Police 

Department and the Town, to freely deciding whether to maintain confidence in law 
enforcement officials, and to exercising a right to apply for IOD benefits outweighed any 
interest Defendant Gilmore and the Town may have had in the efficient performance of 
the Blackstone Police Department. 

 
58. Mr. Tappan's protected activity was a substantial or motivating factor in the adverse 

employment actions taken against him by Defendant Gilmore and the Town, and 
Defendant Gilmore and the Town would not have taken such adverse employment 
action absent the protected conduct. 

 
59. The Town, through Defendant Gilmore's conduct, and through the conduct of other 

agents, subjected Mr. Tappan, or caused him to be subjected, to the deprivation of 
rights, privileges and immunities secured by the Constitution and laws of the United 
States. 

 
60. The Town and Defendant Gilmore were deliberately indifferent to Mr. Tappan's 

federally protected rights when engaging in the conduct alleged above. 
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61. As a direct and proximate result of the Town's violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983, Mr. Tappan 
has suffered significant damages, including economic damages, damages to his personal 
and professional reputation, and emotional distress. 

 
COUNT V 

AGAINST THE TOWN OF BLACKSTONE 
VIOLATION OF M.G.L. CH. 149, § 185(b)(1) 

 
62. Plaintiff repeats the allegations set forth above as if fully contained herein. 

 
63. Mr. Tappan engaged in protected activity by making reports to the members of the 

Blackstone Police Department and the Town regarding matters of public concern, 
including Mr. Tappan’s numerous reports about the harassment and lack of support he 
was experiencing in the Blackstone Police Department; Mr. Tappan’s formal September 
28, 2018 complaint to the Chief; Mr. Tappan’s complaints to his superiors in February 
and March of 2018; Mr. Tappan’s complaint to his superiors regarding his locker being 
broken into on October 24, 2018; and Mr. Tappan’s reports to his superiors regarding 
otherwise improper activities were occurring within the Blackstone Police Department. 
 

64. Mr. Tappan brought the illegal and otherwise improper activities to the attention of the 
Town by providing them with written notice, and the Town had a reasonable 
opportunity to correct them; alternatively, no prior written notice was required 
pursuant to M.G.L. c. 149, § 185(c)(2). 
 

65. In retaliation for Mr. Tappan's protected conduct, Town and its agents committed 
adverse employment actions against Mr. Tappan, including Defendant Gilmore’s and 
other agents of the Town’s lack of professional support for Mr. Tappan; Defendant 
Gilmore and other agents of the Town slandering Mr. Tappan; Defendant Gilmore and 
other agents of the Town falsifying allegations and instituting a groundless investigation 
against Mr. Tappan regarding the September 12, 2018 arrest; Defendant Gilmore and 
other agents of the Town instituting and maintaining a groundless investigation into Mr. 
Tappan’s application for IOD benefits; Defendant Gilmore’s and other agents of the 
Town’s continued attempts to force Mr. Tappan into retirement; and other sundry acts 
of retaliation. 
 

66. Mr. Tappan's protected conduct played a substantial or motivating part in the Town's 
retaliatory action. 
 

67. Any non-retaliatory reasons for placing Mr. Tappan on administrative leave that the 
Town may assert are pretextual. 

 
68. As a direct and proximate result of the Town's violation of M.G.L. c. 149, § 185(b)(1), Mr. 

Tappan has suffered significant damages, including loss of employment; lost wages, 
benefits and other economic damages; costs and attorney's fees required to remedy the 
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legal wrongs done to him; damages to his personal and professional reputation; and 
emotional distress. 

 
PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Greg Tappan requests that this Court grant the following relief: 

 
i. Enter judgment in favor of Mr. Tappan and against each Defendant on each and every 

Count of the Complaint; 
 

ii. Order Defendant Gilmore and the Town of Blackstone to reinstate Mr. Tappan as a 
member of the Blackstone Police Department, pursuant to M.G.L. c. 149, § 185(d)(2); 

 
iii. Order Defendant Gilmore and the Town of Blackstone to reinstate full fringe benefits 

and seniority rights to Mr. Tappan, pursuant to M.G.L. c. 149, § 185(d)(3); 
 

iv. Award Mr. Tappan three times the lost wages, benefits and other remuneration, and 
interest thereon, pursuant to M.G.L. c. 149, § 185(d)(4); 

 
v. Award Mr. Tappan additional compensatory damages in an amount to be proved at trial 

for his injuries (including reputational harm, psychological injuries, pain and suffering, 
emotional distress, and impaired earning capacity); 

 
vi. Award Mr. Tappan punitive damages as permitted by law; 

 
vii. Award Mr. Tappan all reasonable costs and attorney’s fees pursuant to M.G.L. c. 149, § 

185(d)(5) and as otherwise permitted by law; 
 

viii. Award Mr. Tappan pre- and post-judgment interest as permitted by law; and 
 

ix. Grant such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper. 
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JURY CLAIM 
 

PLAINTIFF DEMANDS A TRIAL BY JURY AS TO ALL ISSUES SO TRIABLE 
 
 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 
Gregory Tappan, 
By His attorneys, 
 
 
/s/ John T. Martin_________ 
John T. Martin, Esq. 
BBO #676344 
Michaela M. Weaver, Esq. 
BBO #705985 
KJC Law Firm, LLC 
1 Exchange Place 
Worcester, MA 01608 
(617) 720-8447 
jmartin@kjclawfirm.com 
mweaver@kjclawfirm.com 

 
 
 
 
/s/ Luke Rosseel___________ 
Luke Rosseel, Esq. 
BBO #690731 
Rosseel Law 
183 South Street 
P.O. Box 1136 
Berlin, MA 01503 
(978) 471-6459 
luke@rosseellaw.com 
 

 
 
Dated: March 12, 2020 
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